A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The State presented insufficient evidence to sustain Benjamin 

Santos Castro's conviction for making or having burglary tools. 

2. The prosecutor's misconduct in dosing argument denied 

Castro a fnir trial. 

3. Washington's pattern jmy instruction on reasonable doubt is 

unconstitutional. 

Issues Pertaining: to Assiu:nments ofEtTor 

1. For the making or having burglary tools charge, the jury 

instructions required evidence of intent or knowledge of intent for the 

tools to be used or employed in the commission of a burglary. At most, 

the State's evidence showed the tools were used in vehicle prowls, not 

burglaries. Even when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the State, was the State's evidence insufficient to sustain a conviction for 

making or having burglary tools? 

2. The prosecutor repeatedly asked jurors whether there was 

any reason to doubt Castro's guilt and answered that there absolutely was 

not any such reason. Given that the law is clear that jurors are not 

required to articulate a reason for their doubts and several cases have 

condemned similar articulation arguments as prosecutorial misconduct, 
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was the prosecutor's argument ±1agrant and ill intentioned misconduct 

requiring reversal? 

3. Did the reasonable doubt instruction stating a "reasonable 

doubt is one for which a reason exists,'' misdescribe the burden of proof: 

undem1ine the presumption of innocence, and shift the burden to Castro to 

provide a reason for why reasonable doubt exists? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged CastTo vvith possession of a stolen v·ehicle, 

possession of methamphetamine, second degree possession of stolen 

property {credit card/access device), and possession of burglary tools after 

his arrest on December 13, 20 I 3. CP 1-2. The State amended the 

information prior to trial an additional count of second degree possession of 

stolen prope1ty for items amounting to more than $750. CP 10-ll: 1RP1 6-7. 

In the midst of trial, the court granted the State's motion to amend the 

infom1ation a third time so that it recited the required "withhold or 

appropriate" language in the possession of a stolen vehicle charge. CP 12-

13; 1RP 112-13. 

In the early morning of December 13, 2013, Officer Nick Burson 

received a complaint about a car parked in a Cle Elum Best Western parking 

1 This brief will refer to the verbatim rep01ts of proceedings as follows: 1 RP
March 9 and 10, 2015; 2RP-March 11 and 12,2015: 3RP-Apri13. 2015. 
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lot. lRP 50-51, 125-27, 129. Burson ran the em's license plate, which 

returned a stolen vehicle hit; Burson confim1ed with dispatch that the vehicle 

was stolen. 1RP 51-52. Burson placed a spike strip behind the vehicle and 

waited for backup. lRP 53-54. Other officers anived, ordered the two 

occupants out of the vehicle, and confirmed the occupants were Castro and 

Kayla Clark. 1 RP 55-56, 61. 

Burson saw what appeared to be methamphetamine in the car. IRP 

56-58. He then took Castro out of the pati'ol car he was waiting 1n, arrested 

him, and searched him. 1 RP 58-59. Burson found a used hypodermic 

needle in Castro's pocket along with a window punch device, a credit or 

debit card with the name Jessie Printz, and other gift cards and credit cards. 

lRP 59-61. 

Officers applied for and obtained a WatTant to search the vehicle. 

1 RP 63. Inside the car they fmmd several items, including a pocketknife, 

additional credit and debit cards, a taser, bolt cutters, female clothing, 

miscellat1eous CDs, prescription glasses, a wallet, a black and purple bag 

containing a cut pad lock, a yellow gym bag containing Jessie Printz's pay 

stubs and checks, two laptops, a North Face backpack containing various 

tools, baggies containing methamphetamine, gift cards (to Starbucks, Guitar 

Center, and Walmart), an Arco pump card, jewels, Fred Meyer receipts 

showing use of Printz's credit card, a Coach purse, the passport tor Maria 



Luisa Fragon, prescription pills, a camera, an air soft pellet gun, a wooden 

dowel, a Blackberry smart phone, a fake Baume Mercier watch, among other 

items. 1 RP 63-89, 130-36. 

Ronald Friedman, a fonner Kirkland resident, testified two laptops 

found in the car, a Dell laptop and a blue laptop were stolen fi·om his car a 

few days before December 13, 2013. I RP I 04-06. Friedman also indicated 

the Nikon camera and the fake Baume Mercier watch were also his. 1 RP 

106. Friedman indicated 'the Dell laptop was valued at $1400 and the· other 

laptop and the camera were each $400. 1RP 106-07. 

Sarah Beatty, a resident of Graham, testified her purse with her social 

security card, driver license, various credit cards, keys, and makeup were 

stolen from her car, which had been broken into while it was parked at a 

Graham gym. lRP 115-16. 

Tyler Schultz, a Des Moines resident testified his North Face 

backpack was stolen out of his girlfriend's car parked in the Warwick Hotel 

parking garage in November :2013. lRP 122. Schultz's had written his 

name inside the backpack. 1 RP 122. Schultz said the backpack cost $150 to 

$200, but in used condition was probably worth $50 to $75. 1 RP 124. 

Jeffrey Hoy, an Auburn resident, testified his Mitsubishi Outlander 

was stolen from a YMCA parking lot while his wife, Denise Hoy, was 
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working out at the gym. 2RP 35. When it was stolen, the car contained a 

yellow gym bag with Denise Hoy's clothes. 2RP 39. 

At the beginning of trial, the pmiies entered a factual stipulation 

given Jessie Printz's unavailability for trial. CP 14-15: 1 RP 16-17. The 

stipulation provided, 

Jessie Printz ... suffered a vehicle prowL and her wallet 
Gucci glasses, and restaurant book, among other things, had 
been stolen. These items were recovered from the vehicle. 
Also, her credit and debit cards, including that found in the 
defendant's pocket, had been stolen and used at Fred M[ e ]yer 
and T-Mobile. Receipts showing this were also found in the 
car. 

CP 14. The court read this stipulation to the jury just before the end of the 

State's case. 2RP 48-49. 

While the State's evidence might have supported an inference that 

various tools in the vehicle had been used for vehicle prowls, the State 

presented no evidence whatsoever that the tools had been used in the 

commission of any burglary. 

Castro presented the testimony of Kayla Clark, vvho was incarcerated 

m the Washington Corrections Center for Women after having pleaded 

guilty to possession of stolen propetiy in the second degree. 2RP 59, 64. 

Clark testi:tled that she picked Castro up in the Mitsubishi Outlander in 

Tacoma sometime after December 9, 2013 and that she and Castro were 

travelling to Montana. 2RP 60-63. Clark stated she did not tell Castro the 
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car was stolen; nor did Clark tell Castro there was stolen property in the car. 

2RP 63, 65. Clark also testified the meth baggies vvere hers. 2RP 66-67. 

The trial court gave the jury the pattern instruction on reasonable 

doubt, which read in part, "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason 

exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence." CP 22; 2RP 93. 

In closing. the prosecutor recited this instruction and then argued, 

"Do you think you have a reason to doubt in this case. He's got this car and 

he's got all this stolen property on him. Do you have ahy reason to doubt 

that he knew that it was stolen? Absolutely not." 2RP 142-43. The 

prosecutor proceeded to recount some of the evidence, asserting that there 

was no evidence Castro was not guilty or acted without knowledge and 

therefore there was no reason to doubt. 2RP 143. 

The jury returned guilty verdicts on all five counts (possession of a 

stolen vehicle, second degree possession of stolen property (access device), 

second degree possession of stolen property (propetiy of $750 value), 

possession of methamphetamine, and making or having burglary tools). CP 

56-60; 2RP 164-69. 

The trial court sentenced Castro to concuiTent sentences of 50 

months for possession of stolen vehicle, 24 months for the possession of 

methamphetamine, 18 months for each of the second degree possession of 
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stolen property charges, and 364 days for the making or having burglary 

tools. CP 93; 3RP 13-14. Castro timely appeals. 103. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT 
EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A C01\IVICTION FOR 
MAKING OR HAVING BURGLARY TOOLS 

The State failed to present any evidence that Castro's actions evinced 

any intent to use or employ burglary tools in the commission of a burglary. 

Nor was there evidence to conclude that Castro allowed or knew such tools 

were intended to be used or employed in the commission of a burglary. 

Therefore, this comi must reverse Castro's conviction and remand for 

dismissal of this charge with prejudice. 

Due process requires the prosecution to prove every element of a 

charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 

221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Appellate courts review the sufficiency ofthe 

evidence by asking whether any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt, viewing 

all the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Vasquez, 

178. Wn.2d I, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (20 13). "[I]nferences based on circumstantial 

evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." ld. at 16. 

Such inferences must ··logically be derived from the facts proved, and should 
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not be the subject of mere sumiise or arbitrary assuri1ption." Bailey v. 

Alabama,219U.S.219,232.31 S.Ct.l45,55L.Ed.l9I (1911). 

Jury instructions to which neither party takes exception become the 

law of the case and delineate the State's proof requirements. State v. 

Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Neither the State nor 

Castro had any exceptions or objections to the definitional or to-convict 

instructions with regard to having or making burglary tools. 2RP 87-88. 

These instructions became the law·ofthis case. 

In the jury instructions, the trial court defined the crime of making or 

having burglary tools as tallows: 

A person commits the crime of making or having 
burglary tools when he or she makes, mends, or causes to be 
made or mended, or possesses any engine, machine, tool, 
f~1lse key, pick lock, bit nippers, or implement adapted, 
designed, or commonly used tor the commission of burglary 
under circumstances evincing an intent to use or employ, or 
allow the same to be used or employed in the commission of 
a burglarv, or knowing that the same is intended to be so 
used. 

Burglary is the entering or remaining unlawfully in a 
building with intent to commit a clime against a person or 
prope1ty therein. 

CP 36 (emphasis added); 2RP 100 (emphasis added). Consistent with this 

definition, the to-convict instruction required proof beyond a reasonable 

doubt ''[t]hat the defendant's actions were under circumstances evincing an 

intent to use or employ, or allO\v the tools to be used or employed, or 
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knowing that the tools were intended to be used or em})loyed in the 

commission of a burglarv." CP 37 (emphasis added); 2RP 101 (emphasis 

added). 

This court has established what qualifies as suff:icient evidence to 

sustain a conviction for making or having burglruy tools. In State v. Miller, 

Miller "used bolt cutters and other tools to remove the locks from coin boxes 

in three separate wash bays'' of a Clarkston. Washington car wash. 90 Wn. 

App. 720, 723, 954 P.2d 925 (1998). · On appeal, Miller contended his 

conduct did not constitute burglary. Id. This court agreed, and in a detailed 

opinion, concluding (1) that Miller did not enter or remain unlawfully in the 

car \Vash (which was open to the public) and (2) that breaking into small coin 

boxes could not constitute entering or remaining unlawfully in buildings for 

the purposes of the burglru-y statute. Id. at 724-30. 

Because Miller's actions did not constitute burglary, this court 

likewise dismissed his conviction for making or having burglary tools for 

insufficient evidence: 

Under RCW 9A.52.060 (see WPIC 60.11 ), one of the 
elements of the crime of making or having burglar tools is 
that they are possessed under circumstances evincing an 
intent to use them in a burglary. The circumstances involved 
in the present case could not constitute burglary. Therefore, 
the defendant's possession of the tools for criminal purposes 
was insutlicient to establish the crime of making or having 
burglary tools. 
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· ld. at 730. 

Miller's reasoning applies here. The State did not charge Castro with 

burglary or even theft, but only with possession of a stolen vehicle. 

possession of stolen propetiy, and possession of methamphetamine. At 

most, the State's evidence supported an inference that the tools in Castro's 

possession were intended to be used in the commission of motor vehicle 

theft or second degTee vehicle prowling, not burglary.2 See lRP 104-07 

·(laptops, camera, and ·watch stolen fi'om car i)arked at gym): 1 RP 1'1 5 (purse 

containing credits cards, driver's license, makeup, and other personal effects 

stolen from car parked at gym): lRP 122 (backpack stolen from car in hotel 

parking garage); 2RP 35 (Mitsubishi Outlander containing gym bag stolen 

from YMCA parking lot); CP 14 (parties' stipulation stating Jessie Printz 

"suffered a vehicle prowl, and her wallet Gucci glasses, and restaurant book, 

among other things, had been stolen"). Nothing the State adduced at trial 

remotely pointed to the use of the tools to w1lavvfully enter or remain in a 

building. While Castro's possession of the tools might have evinced an 

intent or knowledge of another's intent to use the tools in future vehicle 

prowls, ''[t]he circumstances involved in the present case could not constitute 

burglary." Miller, 90 Wn. App. at 730. Because the State failed to adduce 

2 A person is guilty of vehicle prowling in the second degree. a misdemeanor, ·'it~ 
with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she 
enters or remains unlmvfully in a vehicle other than a motor home .... '· RCW 
9A.52.1 00(1 ). 
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sufticient evidence that Castro intended, allowed, or knew of another's intent 

to use the tools in the commission of a burglmy, it failed to prove an 

essential element of the crime of making or having burglary tools. 

Accordingly. this court must reverse Castro's burglary tools conviction and 

remand for dismissal of this charge with prejudice. 

2. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT lN CLOSING 
DEPRIVED CASTRO OF A FAIR TRIAL 

The prosecutor asse1ted that Castro was required to provide a reason 

in order tor the jury to have a reasonable doubt that Castro was not guilty 

and that he knew the car and property were stolen. This argument ran afoul 

of several recent Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions 

t1atly barring such burden-shifting arguments. In light of these decisions, 

this court should hold the prosecutor's misconduct was t1agrant and ill 

intentioned, and reverse. 

Prosecutors are officers of the comt a11d have an independent duty to 

ensure the accused receives a fair trial. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 

88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 1314 (1935): State v. Mondav. 171 Wn.2d 667, 

676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). When there is a substantial likelihood that 

improper comments an~cted the jwy's verdict, the accused's rights to a f'air 

and to an impmtial jury are violated. U.S. CoNST. amend. XIV; CONST. art. 

I,§§ 3, 22; State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). 
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It is improper for a prosecutor to argtie that jurors must have a reason 

for having a reasonable doubt because the law does not require that a reason 

be given tor a juror's doubt. State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 585, 355 

P .3d 253 (20 15). This type of misconduct has typically occurred through so

called fill-in-the-blank arguments, '\Vhich implies that the jury must be able 

to articulate its reasonable doubt by filling in the blank'' and, in turn, "subtly 

shifts the burden to the defense." State v. Emerv, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 

'P.3d 653 (2012). Such misconduct is tiot limited to fill-in-the-blank 

mguments, however. 

In State v. Walker, for instance, the prosecutor argued, "If you were 

to find the defendant not guilty, you have to say: 'I had a reasonable 

doubt[.]' What was the reason for your doubt? 'My reason was 
,,, 

164 Wn. App. 724, 731-32, 265 P.3d 191 (2011) (emphasis omitted) 

(quoting clerk's papers). Division Two held that '·[e]ven if the prosecutor's 

comments did not qualify as a till-in-the-blank argument, his PowerPoint 

slide told the jury it had to articulate a reason before it find Walker not guilty 

Id. at 731. ··This shitled the burden of proof to Walker. The 

prosecutor's comments were improper." Id. at 732. 

In State v. Anderson, the prosecutor argued, "in order to find the 

defendant not guilty, you have to say 'I don't believe the defendant is guilty 

because,' and then you have to till in the blank."' 153 Wn. App. 417, 43 L 
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220 P.3d 1273 (2009). Division Two stated that arguments telling jurors 

they must articulate a reason tor having reasonable doubt constituted 

misconduct: 

I d. 

The jury need not engage in any such thought process. By 
implying that the jury had to find a reason in order to find 
Anderson not guilty, the prosecutor made it seem as though 
the jury had to find Anderson guilty unle.s·s it could come up 
with a reason not to. Because we begin with the presumption 
of innocence, this implication that the jury had an initial 
affinnative duty to convict was improper. Furthermore, this 
argument implied that Anderson was responsible for 
supplying such a i·eason to the jury ih order to avoid 
conviction. 

Here, the prosecutor argued, 

Evidence Instruction No. 3 says: A reasonable doubt is one 
tor which a reason exists. Do vou think vou have a reason to 
doubt in this case? He's got this car and he's got all this 
stolen property on him. Do vou have any reason to doubt 
that he knew that it was stolen? Absolutely not. 

RP 142-43 (emphasis added). Like the improper fill-in-the-blank argument, 

this argument told jurors that, in order to have a reasonable doubt they must 

be able to point to "a reason to doubt." In other words, the prosecutor told 

jurors acquittal required the articulation of a reason. The prosecutor then 

repeated this improper argument with respect to the mens rea knowledge 

element asking jurors, "Do you have any reason to doubt that he knew it 

was stolen?" This again enoneously indicated to jurors that they were 

required to find Castro acted with knowledge unless they could articulate a 
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reason not to. This shifted the burden to Castro to supply the jurors with a 

reason to avoid conviction-otherwise, according to the prosecutor, the jury 

was required to return a guilty verdict. 

The prosecutor then continued by pointing out to jurors the possible 

reasons that could amount to reasonable doubt, dismissing them: 

If he had not had a vvindow punch in his pocket if he 
had not had stolen credit cards in his pocket, and he was not 
in a stolen car, taking all those things as not tlue would make 
you think, well, you know, he just kind of got dragged along. 
There's no evidence ofth<1t. 

RP 143. Thus, by telling jurors that she could not come up with a reason to 

have reasonable doubt, the prosecutor indicated that convicting Castro was 

the only option. The prosecutor's argument that jurors must be capable of 

articulating a reason to doubt undermined the presumption of innocence, 

shifted the burden of proof to Castro, and therefore constituted misconduct. 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 759-60; Walker, 164 Wn. App. at 731-32. 

Where, as here, defense counsel does not object to prosecutorial 

misconduct, reversal is required when the misconduct is so flagrant and ill 

intentioned that no curative instruction could have erased the prejudice. 

State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). Oddly, Division 

·rwo has indicated that arguments that require articulation of reasonable 

doubt are not per se l1agrant and ill intentioned. Walker, 164 Wn. App. at 

738 (citing State v. Emerv, 161 Wn. App. 172, 195-96, 253 P.3d 413 (2011), 
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affd, 174 Wn.2d 741,:278 P.3d 653 (2012)). But where '"case law and 

professional standards . . . were available to the prosecutor and clearly 

warned against the conduct," such conduct meets the flagrant and ill 

intentioned standard. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann. 175 Wn.2d 696, 

707. 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Here, the prosecutor had the benefit of Emerv, 

Anderson, Walker, State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 684-85, 243 P.3d 

936 (2010), and State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 5:23-24, 228 P.3d 813 

(20 1 0). each of which held very clearly that articul<Hion-of-reasonable-dotibt 

arguments were improper. This court should hold the prosecutor to the 

knowledge these cases imputed to her office by reversmg Castro's

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