RESPONSH TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A.         There was sufficient evidence to convict Benjamin castro of

Making or Having Burglary Tools.

8.         Mr. Castro's right to a fair trial was not denied by the

prosecutor's closing argument.

C.         The washington pattern Jury Instruction 4.01 on Reasonable

Doubt is not unconstitutional.

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

were clearly assembled together as burglary and car prowl tools.  Mr. Castro's

backpack contained nippers, different knives, a pry bar, screwdrivers, a shim,

wrenches, gloves, and shaved keys.  (RP I, 68, 74, 87)  These were obviously not

meant for any one specific heist, but for Mr. Castro to be able to meet any obstacle

in his criminal path.  Mr. Castro had a window punch in his pocket, which is used

for breaking out windows of buildings or vehicles.  (RP I, 60)  The officer on the
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stand who has investigated burglaries and car prowls identified these types of

tools as tools that are used in both burglaries and car prowls.  (RP I, 88)  Most

telling, Mr. Castro also had handcuffs, a taser, and an airsoft gun that had been

modified to look like a real gun.  (RP I,   66-67, 74, 82, 87)

Unlike the facts in Mi|leLr, the occupants of this stolen vehicle have clearly

been busy with more than one simple car wash machine tamper.  Over and over

various different vehicles have been broken and many different types of stolen

property were obtained, presumably to support the methamphetamine habit that

was in evidence as well.

The sheer number of crimes makes it more likely that this kit of tools is

being used on a wide crime spree.  The purpose of the tools need not be limited.

The fact that the tools could be used in car prowls does not mean they are not

burglary tools.  The fact that they have likely bce# used recently for car prowls

also does not mean that ajury with common sense could not find they were also

likely there for use in burglaries.  A reasonable jury could believe that handcuffs,

a taser and a real-looking airsoft gun are more likely to be used in burglaries than

car prowls.    In fact, they are by their nature unlikely to be used in the car prowls

as happened in the case.  Handcuffs, tasers, and realistic-looking pistols are only
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useful if you believe you will encounter a person's resistance, which is very

unlikely in a car prowl.  Such resistance is entirely foreseeable in a burglary,

should the building prove to be occupied.  A reasonable jury could easily conclude

that the occupants of this car have something more than car prowls planned, and

that the whole tool kit of pry bars, nippers, keys, and other tools are just as likely

intended to be used for burglaries as simple car prowls.  A reasonable jury could

easily find that persons with methamphetamine habits who steal computers,

canieras, and credit cards are just as likely to want to steal those things from

buildings as from cars.  The State does not have to prove the items were actually

used in a specific burglary, but simply that the items are commonly used for the

commission of burglary (which is not disputed), and that circumstances evj.#ce /fee

j.#/c#/ to use the implements in a burglary.  The presence of the handcuffs, taser,

and realistic gun are circumstantial evidence of just such circumstances and intent.

In this case, the sum of the evidentiary presentation is definitely greater than its

constituent parts, as predicted in Bourjaily.  Taken in the light most favorable to

the State there was sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Castro of Possession of

Burglary Tools.
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8.         Mr. Castro's right to a fair trial was not denied by the prosecutor's

closing argument.

Defense cites a few cases in which the prosecutor was found to trivialize

the State's burden of proof or to shift the burden of proof to the defendant to

produce a reasonable doubt in ord`er to find someone not guilty.  In this case,

however, the prosecutor does NO SUCH THING.    Nowhere in closing argument

did the prosecutor indicate or imply that Castro was required to provide a reason

in order for the j.ury to have a reasonable doubt that Castro was not guilty.  In

State v. Emerv,  174 Wn.2d 741  (2012), for example, the prosecutor began an

argument with "In order for you to find the defendant not guilty. . ."  and the court

indicated this is a bad beginning because a jury need do nothing to find a

defendant not guilty.   State v. Anderson.153 Wn. App. 417 (2009) was also about

that exact "fill in the blank" type argument.
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In the present case, the prosecutor was scrupulously careful not to ever

imply the jury needed to do anything in order to find the defendant not guilty.  The

prosecutor never started any sentence with "in order for you to find the defendant

not guilty."   In fact, the prosecutor never said anything close at all.  Each time the

prosecutor mentioned the burden of proof in closing, it was simply to argue that

that the State had proved its case and the evidence left no reasonable doubts.

Asking once, "Do you have a reasonable doubt?" and answering, in essence, No,

the evidence shows no reasonable doubt, is not similar at all to the language in the

cases defense cites.  Nor did the prosecutor ever tell the jury, as in Enggry, that

their role was to solve the case or seek the truth.  The prosecutor simply discussed

why the defense contention that the defendant may not have known the property

was stolen was unlikely.  Emery and Anderson are not applicable.

It is instructive to look at the entire closing argument.  The closing begins

in the Report of proceedings Volume 11, Page 108.  The State very clearly

indicates right from the start that the State has to prove the elements of the

charges beyond a reasonable doubt.  (RP 11,109)  The prosecutor says,
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"And my suggestion is that you go to the five different instructions that

tell you what the actual elements of the charge are, that is, these are
the things that the State has to prove beyond a reasonable doubt so that
you can make your decision that we have proved that he's guilty of the
five different crimes he's charged with.  There's one instruction for each
crime."   (RP 11,  109)

The State then goes through each charge and discusses how it is that the State

proved these elements.  Over and over, the State consistently follows the court's

instructions and makes reference to the State having to prove these elements.  The

prosecutor says, "All you have to know is that he's found in this car with all this

stuff, and you have to decide whether there is enough circumstantial evidence for

you to decide whether he knew in fact the vehicle was stolen."  (RP 11,115)  This

clearly tells the jury that their role is to decide whether the state proved that

element of the crime.  Then the prosecutor continues to list the evidence and

makes the statement,

"in deciding whether the defendant had dominion and control over

something, you're to consider all relevant circumstances in the case ....
And once again I really want to stress that as we talk about every charge
here.  You don't take them apart and think about each little piece, you
think about the whole picture of it because constructive possession, the
circumstantial evidence, all of the legal terms that you've got to find in the
instructions tell you that you are supposed to be considering all of the
evidence as a whole.
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So, if the fact that there's one piece of stolen property somewhere
in the back seat, you know, if he's driving the car, he's in Montana, you
know, did he have one piece of stolen property in the back seat?   Well,
maybe, maybe not.  But is it likely?  Do you have any reasonable doubt
that he knew that-I mean, there was loads of stolen property, almost
everything in that car was stolen, apparently.  Most of the things that were
even found in the car, the officer told you.  There were very few things that
appeared to be associated with Kayla.  Basically, she had her bra on the
floorboard of the front seat and a pair of shoes that were associated with
her.  Almost everything else in there was found to be stolen or apparently
produced with stolen credit cards, so that's really stolen also." (RP 11,
118-119)

Just because the prosecutor, in the midst of a long discussion of evidence, asks the

jury, "Do you have any reasonable doubt that he knew that?" does not tell the jury

they need to come up with a reasonable doubt to acquit.  There is no shift of

burden of proof.  The State has the burden of proving elements beyond a

reasonable doubt.  The State is bound to mention that the evidence does not leave

any reasonable doubts as to the various elements.  It was only in that context, that

the State mentioned reasonable doubt.

After that, the State continues for pages discussing the specific facts of the

crime in detail, discussing the fact that Mr. Castro knows Ms. Clark well enough

that she asked him to go to Montana with her, the fact that she hadjust gotten out

16



of prison, the fact that they were driving in the middle of the night, that he has

stolen credit cards in his pocket and his own credit card in a backpack full of

stolen stuff and burglary and car prowl tools.  The prosecutor concludes this

review by summarizing,

"So the whole question is, has the State proved beyond a

reasonable doubt that he knew that this was a stolen vehicle, and the
answer is yes, all of the details, the time of night, the positioning of the
car, the recency of its having been stolen, the fact that it is not just a single
stolen vehicle, it's a stolen vehicle filled with stolen property, all of these
things, including property that was stolen at the same time that the vehicle
was stolen, the stuff that he has, all of that tells you that in fact he knew
that vehicle was stolen. " (RP 11,123)

The prosecutor goes through the same sort of analysis of each of the crimes in

turn, discussing why the evidence shows all the elements of the crime have been

proved.  The prosecutor never shifts the burden of proof in the case, but squarely

shoulders it and explains how it has been met.

Again, in rebuttal, the prosecutor discusses the specific evidence in the

case.  The prosecutor in rebuttal is directly responding to defense counsel's

arguments that the State has not proved Mr. Castro knew the items in the car and

the car itself were stolen.  The prosecutor goes over the evidence in detail and

shows why the State has proven that Mr. Castro knew the items were stolen.
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Again, it is in the context of discussing the evidence that the State argues that

knowledge has been proven and no doubt exists.  (RP H 143)  The case of State v.

Kalebaugh,  183 Wn. 2d 578 (2015), cited by the Defendant, does not stand for the

proposition that the prosecutor cannot argue that no reasonable doubt exists.  The

Court in Kalebauch takes issue with the judge telling the jury "A reasonable doubt

is a doubt for which a reason can be given" instead of the conect standard, "A

reasonable doubt is a doubt for which a reason exists."    But in this case, the

prosecutor's complained of remark in Rebuttal began with the proper language

from Kalebaugh:  "Evidence Instruction No. 3 says: A reasonable doubt is one for

which a reason exists.  Do you think you have a reason to doubt in this case? He's

got this car and he's got all this stolen property on him.  Do you have any reason

to doubt that he knew that it was stolen?  Absolutely not."  (RP H 143) The

prosecutor does not tell the jury they have to come up with a doubt.  She tells

them no doubt exists because of the evidence.  This is an important and deliberate

distinction.  It would be ridiculous to hold that the State cannot mention the words

reasonable doubt in its closing, or to fofoid the State from saying the evidence

does not leave reasonable doubt.   The State then recapped the evidence:
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"If he had not had a window punch in his pocket, he had not had

stolen credit cards in his pocket and he was not in a stolen car,
taking all those things as not true would make you think, well, you
know, he just kind of got dragged along.  There's no evidence of
that.

and the very next audible words were again the exact language of the proper

WPIC 4.01, saying "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may

arise from the evidence or lack of evidence.  It is such a doubt that would exist in

the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of

the evidence or lack of evidence."  The distinction in Kalebaugh was followed

properly by the prosecutor in this case.  Far from telling the jury they had to come

up with a reason to doubt in order to find anyone not guilty, this discourse simply

argued from the evidence that the defense theory that Mr. Castro just got dragged

along by the female passenger was not supported by that evidence.  The harmless

error analysis of Emery and Kalebaugh should apply, although the court need not

indulge in this analysis, since the remarks were not error and certainly not

``flagrant and ill-intentioned."

In the very recent case State v. Harun Osman, Washington Court of

Appeals, Division One, slip op. 718444, filed January 25, 2016, the Court of

Appeals indicates that a prosecutor is entitled to point out the improbability or
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lack of evidentiary support for a defense theory of the case, citing State v. Russell,

125 Wn.2d 24 (1994).  Also, a prosecutor has wide latitude to comment on the

evidence introduced at trial and to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence.

The court said, "Because the argument properly focused on the evidence, Osman

carmot show prosecutorial misconduct." Osman  slip oD. at 15.

All the arguments the prosecutor made were based upon the evidence and

the reasonable inferences that can be drawn there from.  Nothing the prosecutor

said in this case shifted the burden of proof, was flagrant or ill intentioned, or

improperly stated the jury's role in the case.  The prosecutor clearly focused on

the evidence and never gave little analogies that trivialized the beyond a

reasonable doubt standard.  The prosecutor simply said that no reasonable doubt

existed.  The case was proved beyond a reasonable doubt.  Nothing the prosecutor

said deprived the defendant of a fair trial.  No reversal should be required.
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C.         The washington pattern Jury Instruction 4.01 on Reasonable doubt is
not unconstitutiona].

The instruction given in this case, WPIC 4.01  is the instruction given in

(nearly) every criminal case in Washington State, especially since the Washington

State Supreme Court in State v. Bennett,161  Wn.2d 303 (2007) instructed courts

to do so.  The Court in Bennett said specifically,

"We therefore exercise our inherent supervisory power to instruct

Washington trial courts not to use the Ccrs//e instruction.  We have
approved WPIC 4.01 and conclude that sound judicial practice
requires that this instruction be given until a better instruction is
approved.  Trial courts are instructed to use the WPIC 4.01
instruction to inform the jury of the government's
burden to prove every element of the charged crime beyond a
reasonable doubt."                  Bennett at 318. (emphasis added)

Having been so instructed, it would be odd indeed for the Court of

Appeals to find that that exact instruction, required by the Supreme Court, is

actually unconstitutional.

The defendant's argument was recently advanced in State v. Lizarraga,

2015 Washington App., slip opinion 71532-1-I.  The Court held, "But in S/cz/e v.

Bc##e// our Supreme Court expressly approves the WPIC as a correct statement of
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the law and directs courts to use WPIC 4.01 to      truct on the burden ofproofand

the definition of reasonable doubt.  See also S/cz/e v. Pj.r//e,  /27 W#.2c7 628 //995J

(concluding WPIC 4.01 adequately permits both the government and the accused

to argue their theories of the case)." Lizzarmga at 53 .

The "fill in the blank" arguments of Eg±gry and Anderson, as mentioned

before, are improper not because they discuss whether a reasonable doubt exists,

or whether a reasonable doubt is one for which there is a reason.  They are

improper because they do not use the language of our Supreme Court's direction

in Bennett.  They are improper because they suggest the defendant has to prove

something.  The WPIC 4.01 does not do that.  Defining reasonable doubt is not

the same as shifting the burden of proof.

In any event, even if it were unconstitutional, under the doctrine of invited

error, this Court should not take up the argument in this case.  The record shows

not only that the defense made no objection to the WPIC instruction 4.01 at the

time of the trial and actually agreed to it (RP 11, 5, 79) but the defense actually

proposed the same instruction themselves.  (RP 11, 3 and Page 6 of the

Supplement to the Record, "Instructions Requested by the Defendant," which is
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attached to the Brief as Appendix A, and which is the subject of a motion to

supplement the record, pending this Court's approval)  Defense Counsel tells the

court specifically, when referring to his proposed iustructious that everyone has in

front of them, "They are not as complete as Ms. Hooper's that she sent me last

night, but they are the same except for the definition of possession."  (RP 11, 3)

The doctrine of invited error holds that when a defendant actually proposes an

erroneous jury instruction, he may not later complain on appeal that the requested

instruction was given.   State v. Henderson.114 Wn.2d 867 (1990) and State v.

Sfl4d,137 Wn.2d 533 (1999).  It did not matter that the error was of

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